

#### ANNUAL **Further** Click here to view this article's online features:

- Download figures as PPT slides
- Navigate linked references
  Download citations
- Download citations
   Explore related articles
- Search keywords

# Global Oceans Governance: New and Emerging Issues

# Lisa M. Campbell,<sup>1</sup> Noella J. Gray,<sup>2</sup> Luke Fairbanks,<sup>1</sup> Jennifer J. Silver,<sup>2</sup> Rebecca L. Gruby,<sup>3</sup> Bradford A. Dubik,<sup>1</sup> and Xavier Basurto<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Nicholas School of the Environment, Duke University Marine Lab, Beaufort, North Carolina 28516; email: lcampbe@duke.edu

<sup>2</sup>Department of Geography, University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario NIG 2W1, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Department of Human Dimensions of Natural Resources, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, Colorado 80523

Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 2016. 41:517-43

First published online as a Review in Advance on July 6, 2016

The Annual Review of Environment and Resources is online at environ.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-environ-102014-021121

Copyright © 2016 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

#### **Keywords**

food production, industrialization, biodiversity conservation, global environmental change, pollution

#### Abstract

Increased interest in oceans is leading to new and renewed global governance efforts directed toward ocean issues in areas of food production, biodiversity conservation, industrialization, global environmental change, and pollution. Global oceans governance efforts face challenges and opportunities related to the nature of oceans and to actors involved in, the scale of, and knowledge informing their governance. We review these topics generally and in relation to nine new and emerging issues: small-scale fisheries (SSFs), aquaculture, biodiversity conservation on the high seas, large marine protected areas (LMPAs), tuna fisheries, deep-sea mining, ocean acidification (OA), blue carbon (BC), and plastics pollution.

#### Contents

INTRODUCTION
ENVIRONMENTAL GOVERNANCE
Actors
Scale
Knowledge
NEW AND EMERGING ISSUES
Food Production524
Industrialization
Biodiversity Conservation
Global Environmental Change 531
Pollution
CONCLUSIONS

#### INTRODUCTION

#### NGO: Nongovernmental organization

**OA:** Ocean acidification

A review of new and emerging issues in global oceans governance is timely given contemporary interest in oceans by government, scientists, the private sector, nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), and philanthropic foundations (see Sidebar: Oceans on the Agenda). Interest is driven by both recognition of the economic potential of oceans—oceans as a development opportunity—and concern about the health of ocean ecosystems and their role in global environmental processes— oceans as a conservation concern (1–3). Governance interventions to support development and/or conservation (4) will confront a series of challenges based on the biophysical, political, and social nature of oceans.

Biophysically, oceans are vast, varied, complex, fluid, and three-dimensional. For humans, ocean environments are difficult to see beyond their surfaces, and underwater environments are hostile to and remote from habitation. As a result, many scientific unknowns remain (5). In just the past several decades, critical basic discoveries have been made, e.g., the existence of *Prochlorococcus*, a single-cell marine cyanobacteria that plays a major role in the global carbon cycle (6). Scientific understanding of new environmental concerns, e.g., ocean acidification (OA), are emerging (7). Some ocean spaces are frontiers, being explored (and exploited) for the first time. Deep-sea

# **OCEANS ON THE AGENDA**

Increased interest in oceans governance is reflected in the rapid proliferation of international meetings over the past decade. These include the Global Ocean Forum on Oceans, Coasts, and Islands, held five times, beginning in 2001; the International Marine Protected Areas Congress, held three times, beginning in 2005; the Society for Conservation Biology's International Marine Conservation Congress, held every two years, beginning in 2009; the World Small-Scale Fisheries Congress, held twice, in 2010 and 2014; the World Ocean Summit, held three times, beginning in 2010; and the Our Oceans Conference, hosted by the US Department of State in 2014 and by the Government of Chile in 2015. These meetings reflect scientific, government, nongovernment, and private sector interests in oceans governance generally and in relation to specific ocean activities.

hydrothermal vents—with biotic communities of interest to scientists and mineral deposits of interest to the mining sector—continue to be discovered (8).

Politically, existing national and multinational oceans governance is a product of post–World War II constructions of the nation state and of the international order established by the United Nations (UN). The United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS) provides the overarching legal framework for protection and management of globally shared ocean resources in areas beyond national jurisdiction (ABNJ). Existing measures implemented through UNCLOS are issue specific; for example, Regional Fisheries Management Organizations (RFMOs) address fisheries in ABNJ. UN governance of ABNJ is often described as inadequate and incomplete, with gaps related to specific issues (9) such as biodiversity conservation (10). UNCLOS also guides signatory states in exercising authority within a 200-nautical-mile exclusive economic zone (EEZ). State authority over the seabed can extend beyond 200 miles to the extent of the continental shelf. In many states, ocean resources are conceptualized as public goods [e.g., under the Public Trust Doctrine in the United States (11)] and extracted under a variety of access regimes, including open access. With some exceptions, governments lease or license spaces and resources to individuals or firms rather than transfer them to private ownership, but communities and resource users also claim access by other means (12).

Socially, dominant Western constructions of oceans portray them as "unpeopled" spaces of nature, but not society (13, 14), and the biophysical features described above support such constructions. For most of Western industrial history, human interactions have been considered predominantly economic, with oceans providing resources and a smooth surface for ship-based trade and military movement (14). By reviewing alternative historical and cultural understandings of oceans, Steinberg (15, p. 2092) illustrates how social constructions create "the cultural and political environment in which certain interventions are deemed desirable and others deemed unattainable." Efforts to develop new or modify existing oceans governance regimes are situated within, or alternatively challenge, such constructions.

Oceans governance regimes reflect the combined biophysical, political, and social features of oceans. Western constructions of oceans as unpeopled support a commitment to freedom of the seas (14). In the post–World War II era, nationalized spaces of the EEZ and UN measures for ABNJ reflected evolving understanding of biophysical features and changing political and social commitments (9, 14, 16, 17). For example, the inaccessibility of seabed minerals in ABNJ, recognition of their potential value, and the concept of an ocean commons combined such that seabed minerals were designated as the "common heritage of mankind" by UNCLOS (14, 17). Since then, technological developments have increased mineral accessibility, and new rules to control access, minimize environmental impacts, and distribute benefits of seabed mining are being negotiated in the International Seabed Authority (ISA). These rules may or may not uphold the common heritage principle; social and political ideas about ocean resources and governance processes have also changed.

In this review, we outline the concept of environmental governance and focus on three governance themes: actors, scale, and knowledge. Under five broad categories of ocean activities food production, biodiversity conservation, industrialization, global environmental change, and pollution—we review new and emerging issues in each: SSFs and aquaculture for food production, biodiversity conservation in ABNJ and large marine protected areas (LMPAs) for conservation, tuna fisheries and seabed mining for industrialization, OA and blue carbon (BC) for global environmental change, and plastic pollution for pollution. We selected these categories and issues based on several criteria. First, they have received attention on a developing global oceans agenda (e.g., 18), which several of us have been tracking for almost a decade (1, 2, 19, 20). Although this agenda intersects with oceans governance within EEZs and we consider such intersections, the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS): the legal framework for protection and management of ocean resources

Areas beyond national jurisdiction (ABNJ): include the water column (the highs seas) and the seabed (the area)

**RFMO:** Regional Fisheries Management Organization

# Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ):

designates the extent of state authority over adjacent oceans

**ISA:** International Seabed Authority

Small-scale fisheries (SSFs): are difficult to define (as detailed by the FAO; see http://www.fao.org/ fishery/ssf/en) but are generally contrasted to industrial, highly commercialized fisheries

#### Large marine protected areas (LMPAs): larger than 30,000–250,000 km<sup>2</sup>

**Blue carbon (BC):** the carbon stored, sequestered, or released from coastal and ocean ecosystems **GPO:** Global Partnership for Oceans

issues are discussed in international venues as globally significant. Second, we select issues recently identified, such as OA (7), or those long-standing but subject to renewed attention, such as SSFs (21). Third, the issues illustrate both variety and similarity in their relation to our governance themes. By choice and necessity, many issues are excluded from our review. Our attention to new issues means that long-standing issues such as coastal and marine tourism, offshore oil and gas development, and industrial fishing generally are not covered. Some new issues, e.g., sea level rise and the changing Arctic Ocean, are also omitted due to space constraints. The framing of our review reflects scholarship in the fields of human geography and political ecology, social studies of science, and common-pool resources theory, fields that are underrepresented in oceans research (e.g., compared to law or economics), but that have much to contribute to understanding and addressing oceans governance challenges.

#### **ENVIRONMENTAL GOVERNANCE**

Although the concept of governance is broad and variously defined (22), core inter-related characteristics support its contrast to government. First, governance marks a shift away from statecentric, territorial-based power and "acknowledges that a plethora of forms of social organization and political decision-making exist that are neither directed toward the state nor emanate from it" (23, p. 191). Second, governance foregrounds participation by nonstate actors (e.g., private companies, NGOs, civil society groups and movements) and shifts in influence among these (24). Third, governance problematizes categories of public and private, as well as global, national, and local. Authority is multilayered and multiscalar, and the boundaries between types of actors and the scales of interaction are porous and unfixed (25–27). Fourth, science and technology are often critical to governance, determining what and how to govern and lending legitimacy to actors seeking influence (28–30). Finally, contemporary governance often emphasizes market over regulatory mechanisms; for environmental issues, this often necessitates enclosure and privatization of the commons (26, 31).

Informed by our ongoing research tracking global oceans governance over the past decade (1, 2, 19, 20, 32), we highlight issues of actors, scale, and knowledge as themes particularly relevant to global oceans governance. A focus on governance directs us to look not only at formal politics among states, but also at the more subtle politics among diverse actors working to influence who participates in (and is subject to) governance regimes, the scale at which these governance problems are conceptualized and solutions implemented, and the knowledge that informs such decisions. This is certainly not the only way to think about governance; for example, in contrast to our emphasis on broad characteristics of governance, others have focused on more specific mechanisms and institutions for governing oceans (33, 34).

#### Actors

Although governance highlights the role and importance of nonstate actors, the formal politics of nation states and multilateral institutions continue to play central roles in global oceans governance due to the political history described above. Oceans have received renewed attention in the UN as reflected in the inclusion of a goal for oceans in "Transforming our World: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development" (35) and the June 2015 UN General Assembly resolution on the development of a new legally binding instrument under UNCLOS to allow for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity in ABNJ (36). Renewed interest is also seen in the World Bank, where its Global Partnership for Oceans (GPO) (2012–2015) launched a major reinvestment in

oceans by multilateral financial institutions after more than a decade of inattention (4). Nation states pursue their interests in global oceans through the UN and related agreements.

Scientists and scientific collaborations are also key actors in global oceans governance, often in partnership with state and UN agencies. For example, the Intergovernmental Ocean Commission of the UN Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (IOC-UNESCO) supports more than a dozen scientific programs such as the Global Ocean Observing System. The UN Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) has led scientific efforts to identify areas of significant biodiversity on the high seas (37), and the United Nations Food and Agricultural Organization (FAO) has overseen the identification of vulnerable marine ecosystems (VMEs) (38). The Census of Marine Life, a decade-long study of global marine biodiversity, lists hundreds of partners and sponsors—including states, multilateral agencies, the private sector, NGOs, and academic institutions.

NGOs are involved in oceans governance, and UNCLOS recognized their role in the 1980s, a decade prior to their general ascendance at the 1992 UN Conference on Sustainable Development (24, 39). NGOs have unparalleled opportunities for influence in oceans governance due to governance gaps, and they exert this influence in policy development and agenda setting, education, capacity building, science, watchdogging, and rapid response (40). They have advocated for particular forms of oceans governance [e.g., marine protected areas (MPAs) (19) or ecosystembased management (41)] and sometimes play active roles in implementation (40, 41). Many receive financial support from US and European private foundations active in oceans philanthropy. Civil society organizations with interests beyond environment are less evident, especially in ABNJ. In international negotiations related to oceans governance, topics that are politically contentious for terrestrial resources (e.g., poverty, gender, rights, justice) are seldom discussed, and when they are, it is mostly at the scale of the nation state (e.g., how small island developing states might capture more benefits from tuna fishing). Small-scale fishers are the exception, represented in international forums by organizations such as the International Collective in Support of Fishworkers or the World Fishermen's Forum (1).

Private sector actors have long been using ocean resources, and some ocean industries are major components of the global economy (e.g., shipping, industrial fisheries, offshore oil and gas extraction). Corporations are increasingly active in oceans governance, advocating for industrial best practices and engaging in public-private partnerships (P3s). In ABNJ, UN organizations are now joined by groups such as the World Ocean Council (http://www.oceancouncil.org/), an industry leadership alliance committed to corporate ocean responsibility. World Ocean Council programs include analyzing and seeking to influence ocean policy and a smart oceans/smart industries initiative that promotes using private sector infrastructure (e.g., ships, oil drilling platforms) as platforms for ocean science. P3s for oceans governance were a major theme at the 2014 UN Conference on Sustainable Development (hereafter Rio+20) (2) and were central in the World Bank's GPO (2, 4).

How these actors will influence emerging oceans governance is a compelling research question. In international venues such as the CBD, NGOs and ocean scientists from the Global North have been the primary advocates for conservation, particularly MPAs (19), and NGOs have played a key role in facilitating conservation in ABNJ in specific places (42). However, large international NGOs often fail to translate their international successes into policies that work at a local level (43), in part because their global conservation priorities conflict with the priorities of local communities and national governments (44), and sometimes with those of their own local-level staff (45). Similarly, Abbott et al. (4) raise questions about the private sector in oceans governance, pointing out the historical tensions among corporate, state, and NGO partners. For example, the GPO's promotion of transparency conflicts with private sector interests in proprietary data. In a subsection

**FAO:** United Nations Food and Agriculture Organization

**MPA:** Marine protected area

of Abbott et al. (4), Liam Campling and Elizabeth Havice argue that P3s in other sectors have come with high costs to the state and risks for the public, while profits have been channeled to the private sector. On the basis of their studies of tuna fisheries, they critique the GPO for underemphasizing supply chain governance in questions of resource exploitation.

More generally, the diverse interests of ocean actors were reflected in efforts to define Blue Economy at Rio+20, where Silver et al. (2) identified four separate Blue Economy narratives: oceans as natural capital, oceans as good business, oceans as integral to small island developing states, and oceans as SSF livelihoods. Although government, NGO, scientific, civil society, and private sector actors promoting these narratives often invoked similar language, their underlying assumptions about human-ocean relationships, and thus the purpose of the Blue Economy, were quite different. Silver et al. argue that it is precisely because there is momentum toward increased oceans governance that actors worked to define the Blue Economy in particular ways; ocean actors sought to define a vision for the future of oceans governance.

#### Scale

Scale is relevant to oceans governance in three distinct ways. First, oceans are large in extent. Managing global oceans entails managing an environment that covers 70% of the planet (the oceans in ABNJ cover 64%). Accordingly, the extent of governance is also large. RFMOs manage fish stocks with transoceanic migrations. The FAO's *Voluntary Guidelines for Securing Sustainable Small-Scale Fisheries in the Context of Food Security and Poverty Eradication* (hereafter FAO-SSF Guidelines) (46) are applicable to the world's estimated 50 million small-scale fishers. Once developed, rules for extracting seabed minerals will cover the seafloor in all ABNJ and set minimum standards for mining within EEZs of UNCLOS signatory states. Governing oceans is an enormous undertaking.

Second, ecological features and processes as well as governance levels are described in scalar terms—the local, national, regional, or global—and scale denotes a relation among these. Scale and multiscalar interactions are confounding factors in global environmental governance (27, 47). One explanation for failed oceans governance is scalar mismatch; that is, a governance intervention (e.g., local fisheries management) is not well matched to the ecological scale of the feature or process being governed (e.g., migratory fish stock) (48, 49). The concern for scalar mismatch fuels support for governance at global or regional scales and coordination among scales (20). For example, Barkin & DeSombre (50) call for a new fisheries management agency to allocate individual transferable quota at a global scale. Emphasis on the global sometimes encounters resistance from proponents of the local (51), and at the very least raises questions about how scales might interact (52, 53). Berkes (48) argues that global management must integrate local management, but others are less sanguine. For example, scientists and conservationists have sometimes dismissed local claims to resources by invoking data that illuminate global and regional resource sharing (52, 54).

Third, there is a politics of scale that leads to questions of how scales are represented and to what effect (25). How do different actors invoke scale to pursue particular agendas? How are global, local, and national scales produced through efforts to govern oceans? Gruby & Campbell (32) trace the means by which some Pacific Island nations strategically enacted a Pacific Region at the meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the CBD to better influence negotiations, but also to attract funding associated with global ocean conservation. Gray et al. (20) attribute enthusiasm for MPAs to the ways in which they can align with distinct scalar narratives. Sievanen et al. (41) and Gruby & Basurto (55) illustrate how new scalar narratives about ocean resources, introduced through NGOs or international policy processes, promote particular forms of conservation in ways

that sometimes undermine existing national or local institutions for oceans governance. The fluid biophysical nature of oceans combined with the more fixed understanding of political boundaries (e.g., the EEZ separates the national and global) makes questions about the politics of scale in oceans governance particularly compelling.

#### Knowledge

Science and technology help us better know the oceans, "making visible what had previously been hidden or inaccessible" (56, p. 779). Remote sensing, global positioning systems, and satellite tracking illuminate ocean spaces, processes, and species from above (57), whereas remote and autonomous underwater vehicles do so from below (58). The Census of Marine Life, a decade-long study of marine biodiversity, illustrates scientific efforts to better know oceans; more than 2,500 scientists employed 30 technologies in more than 540 expeditions to discover and describe more than 1,200 new species and confirm the existence of 250,000 others (59).

Technological advancements also support development opportunities; many emerging ocean issues, e.g., seabed mining and aquaculture, are emerging because of technological possibility. These opportunities have potential environmental costs. In industrial fisheries, increased technological capacity to extract fish in the absence of governance regimes limiting fleet development has contributed to overfishing (60, 61). So-called roving bandits in fisheries are supported by both technological developments in fishing practices and technologies that support the spread of information on markets at speeds that outpace policy responses. Simultaneously, technology can support improved monitoring of vessels (62), and Global Fishing Watch (http://www.globalfishingwatch.org), a collaboration between Google, SkyTruth, and Oceana, illustrates such potential.

What we know about oceans interacts with how we govern them. The task of knowing oceans has generally been given to natural scientists, particularly in global governance regimes where science provides universals around which conservation projects can be structured (63, 64). What scientists (and scientific collaborations) see, however, is influenced by what they look for. Social scientists have raised the concern that studies of the global environment via the technologies described above produce representations that render people and their resource claims invisible (65) or, if they are seen, that trump them (52, 54).

Concerns about the visibility of people and their resource claims are amplified with regard to oceans, given the construction of oceans as unpeopled. This is not only a philosophical problem, but also a practical issue of data availability. Considering the spatial turn in marine resource management, St. Martin & Hall-Arbor (56) argue that data gaps in relation to the so-called human dimensions result in a cartographic silence that overlooks communities and their dependence on resources. Even when management agencies attempt to include people and their understandings of environment and resources in policymaking, agency commitments to science-based assessment and monitoring render them unable to accommodate alternative ways of knowing (66). Attention to the role of science and technology in knowing and representing oceans, and the interactions of such knowledge and representations with governance, is a critical area of research.

#### **NEW AND EMERGING ISSUES**

In the following sections we review nine new and emerging issues in global oceans governance, highlighting how governance actors, scale, and knowledge are shaping and sometimes confounding governance efforts.

#### **Food Production**

Neither SSFs nor aquaculture are new issues, but they are subject to increasing interest due to their contributions to food security and employment for millions of coastal residents, particularly the poor, and to their role in conservation and development of coastal environments and economies (21, 46, 67). SSFs are characterized by diverse fishing techniques, spatial and temporal dynamism in terms of the number and types of species caught, and low levels of capitalization (46). Aquaculture produces an estimated 50% of total seafood and has grown at an average rate of 6.2% per year since 2000 (68). Our review focuses on the culture of marine organisms, which accounts for roughly 18% of global seafood production (68). Marine aquaculture (hereafter aquaculture) operations vary in production models and species, including open water culture of tuna and other pelagics in pens, pond-based culture of shrimp, and cage-and-rope-based culture of bivalves. Aquaculture is characterized by a divergence between intensive industrial practices and small-scale operations. The diversity of production methods and contexts for both SSF and aquaculture contribute to their governance challenges.

**Small-scale fisheries.** Historically, SSFs have been geographically, economically, socially, and politically marginalized and have played practically no role in the development of fisheries science (and vice versa) (69). SSF diversity challenges state capacity to collect and generate landing statistics, and self-reported catch data, often linked to taxable income and/or quota allocation, suffer from under- and overreporting (70). Similar challenges constrain the quality and availability of social science data, making SSFs generally data poor. Efforts are ongoing to increase knowledge about SSFs (21).

In the mid-twentieth century, government agencies, NGOs, and multinational agencies pursued economic development and poverty alleviation via modernizing SSFs through technological investments in capture and storage infrastructure (69). As in industrial fisheries, state-sponsored subsidies resulted in bigger and more efficient boats, motors, and fishing gear, as well as larger catches over greater areas. Better processing infrastructure promised better connections to markets and larger profits. This technology-centered approach failed to attend to resource access and traditional tenure and often led to conflict over increased harvesting rates and resource depletion (71). The 2014 FAO-SSF Guidelines (46) offer a different vision of SSF development, one centered on fisher livelihoods, human rights, and institutions (72).

Historically, state governance of SSFs, in addition to the activities described above, has focused on determining what type of scientific information constitutes valid data for regulatory purposes and on controlling fisheries access through licensing, quota allocation, and other regulatory measures (69). States have yet to pay sufficient attention to fishers as actors (e.g., the ways they organize and self-govern their harvesting and marketing interactions) or to use this information to develop regulations that account for organizational differences (12). Many fishers organize through fishing associations, whereas others do so through informal contracts with patrons. Each of these forms is likely to offer very different outcomes for human well-being and conservation (12), their contributions to food security of marginalized populations (73), and even their ability to adapt to climate change (74).

Fisher organization is in part overlooked because of the dominant understanding of fishers as individual rational actors seeking to maximize individual benefits. As a result, many national governments and the World Bank's GPO promote rights-based fisheries management that emphasizes well-defined exclusionary property rights as a solution for SSF governance (75). However, rights-based reforms are often resisted by fishers themselves who do not trust that such reforms will benefit them, as seen in comparable tenure reforms for land, water, and forests (76).

NGOs have emerged as another important actor in SSF governance and are involved in certification and labeling programs to promote premium markets for sustainably caught and processed seafood. By defining the conditions under which SSF harvesting, processing, and commercialization take place, these NGOs effectively become SSF regulatory bodies. In contrast to the industrial fisheries for which certification programs were initially designed, most SSFs are unable to internalize the high costs of evaluation and sector-level reforms needed to attain certification status (77). Although there have sometimes been unexpected political benefits for certified SSFs, many challenges remain for certification in developing countries (78).

The complex interdependencies of fishers and markets with the biology of targeted species make coordination across scales of governance particularly relevant for SSFs. Fifty years ago local fishers might have been able to implement access and use agreements that contributed to human well-being and resource health (79). Increased mobility of fishers and technological development increasingly challenge fishers' abilities to self-govern, and conflicts between local fishers and highly mobile fleets are common and of global concern (62). Co-management, the shared responsibility of governance duties between government and fishers (80), is increasingly seen as a viable alternative to address larger-scale coordination needs. However, further work to determine what contributes to effective co-management is needed (81).

Aquaculture. Although aquaculture is estimated to account for 50% of global seafood, such estimates mask unevenness in the global distribution of production and consumption, and are contingent upon production projections that may considerably underestimate current aquaculture capacity (81). The 50% figure does not distinguish between freshwater and marine aquaculture, making it more difficult to understand the intersections between aquaculture, marine capture fisheries, and oceans governance. Whatever the figure, creating resilient and adaptive aquaculture systems remains a significant challenge, as monoculture and intensive coastal development may undermine long-term resilience. Climate change poses particular risks, as many high-value sectors such as shrimp and shellfish production are vulnerable to the direct impacts of sea level rise (82). Impacts on feed supply, health of cultured organisms, and shifting disease environments due to climate change are concerns for virtually all sectors, and particularly for high-value species such as shrimp and salmon (82).

Aquaculture development has primarily pursued a technically focused best management practices (BMPs) approach, in which more efficient or sustainable production practices and technologies are introduced to farmers and industry members in an attempt to curtail negative impacts. BMPs include those that prevent escape of cultured species, use preferred chemicals or feeds, avoid or reduce use of antibiotics, and properly site facilities. Efficiency gains from BMPs have frequently proven insufficient to motivate their adoption, in many cases necessitating enforcement by the state or actors in the supply chain (83). Such technical approaches do a poor job of addressing social and environmental issues that occur at scales beyond the farm level, particularly in addressing structural issues that lead to negative social and environmental outcomes for vulnerable populations (73, 84).

Both multinational agencies and NGOs have played a key role in shaping the emergence of aquaculture governance. During the 1980s and 1990s, multinational agencies supported aquaculture development in many areas of the Global South as a means of poverty alleviation and rural development. As aquaculture value chains began to mature, development goals shifted from establishing aquaculture to promoting sustainable governance (85). During this transition, a variety of NGOs participated in developing governance schemes, through drafting BMPs or developing certification and labeling programs to promote sustainable production (73). As in SSFs, certification provides a pathway for NGO, retailer, and consumer preferences to guide production practices,

and is well established in many aquaculture commodities, particularly species commonly consumed in the United States and Europe such as shrimp, salmon, and pelagic finfish (86). Despite widespread adoption, the effectiveness of aquaculture certification programs may be limited due to a lack of capacity for monitoring and oversight in producer areas (87). Furthermore, they have been criticized for undermining state-level management capacity, marginalizing producers in decision-making processes, targeting a narrow range of species, and disproportionately focusing on species and environmental issues important to consumer countries (86, 88, 89).

Aquaculture markets are increasingly global in nature, with many high-value products produced in in the Global South and consumed in the Global North. The global nature of these markets is reflected in approaches to governance, which have historically involved market-based approaches and P3s operating across scales. In developing BMPs, certification, and labeling, global actors set standards for local producers. However, not all aquaculture is tied to global markets, which precludes the use of these multiscalar approaches. The most important example is China, where roughly 72% of domestic fish and shellfish consumption comes from domestic culture (67, 90). Penetration of global governance schemes into China is minimal, and data concerning production and domestic governance trends are often unreliable (67).

#### Industrialization

The governance of long-standing and newly emerging ocean industries is in flux. "Old" industrial activities such as fishing are held up as examples of failed oceans governance (60, 61), whereas new industrial activities, e.g., aquaculture and seabed mining, are promoted as opportunities for developing countries and coastal communities (1, 2, 17, 91). Governance of one long-standing industrial activity (tuna fishing) and one emerging industrial activity (seabed mining) reveals the tensions between greater scientific understanding of the conservation significance and development potential of oceans and emergent questions about who should be involved in oceans governance and at what scale.

**Tuna fisheries.** Tuna fishing is a complex multiscalar industry. Tuna are highly migratory with transoceanic journeys that cross EEZs and ABNJ. Vessels from one country (e.g., China) purchase licenses to capture tuna in the waters of other countries [e.g., Papua New Guinea (PNG)], and it is normal for fleets that target various tuna species and stocks to be in different territorial waters at different times of the year (92, 93). Tuna fishing is also embedded in a global commodity network (94, 95). Tuna caught in the waters of PNG might be processed in hubs in Thailand or the Philippines before being shipped to canned tuna markets in Europe and the United States (94).

Regional research on tuna fishing and management in the Pacific Ocean illustrates the power dynamics and social implications of the tuna industry's multiscalar governance. Since the introduction of EEZs, tuna catch has grown from 450,000 metric tons in the 1970s to 2.2 million metric tons in 2011, for a total landed value of US\$5.5 billion in 2011 (96, 97). Although Pacific Island states license foreign fleets to fish tuna in their EEZs, they capture a relatively small proportion of total economic rent, as foreign firms, sometimes with the help of national governments, negotiate license agreements with very favorable terms and then export raw catch for processing elsewhere (93, 94). In 2010, PNG—a country whose waters supply 11–12% of global tuna catch—collected 5–6% of exports valued at more than US\$766 million (94).

Regional patterns in tuna distribution/migration, available infrastructure, working conditions, and colonial histories differentially temper local experiences of tuna fishing among Pacific Islanders (92, 98). One tuna cannery in Fiji, for example, has at times employed up to 70% of the available

local workforce. However, most processing happens in facilities in Southeast Asia, and it is rare for large industrial tuna fishing vessels to employ Pacific Islanders (92). To address these sorts of uneven outcomes, eight Pacific Island states have increasingly worked as a bloc under the Nauru Agreement and have been able to incrementally strengthen their control over tuna access, and in some cases to negotiate increased local processing activity (94, 96). However, even as these small successes accrue, terms of resource access remain embedded in "complex bundles and webs of power and social relations that operate across institutional and geographical boundaries" (94, p. 432) and that are influenced by a variety of actors.

The Fish Stocks Agreement, an UNCLOS implementing agreement, mandates cooperative management of all shared fish stocks. For tuna, cooperative management is facilitated through tuna RFMOs (93). RFMO processes bring together coastal states home to tuna stocks and states where fishing fleets originate, to jointly study stocks and determine management provisions such as openings and quota volumes (93). Although RFMOs are an important governance arrangement, complex political relations and significant disconnects between scientific recommendations and policy outcomes challenge RFMO management. For example, Berkes (48) and others (92, 93) have criticized RFMOs for privileging the interests of strong fishing nations, often to the disadvantage of smaller developing states.

The relationship between science and policy has been important in the North Atlantic, where North American versus European interests are at stake and are negotiated in the International Commission for the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas RFMO. At least two genetically distinct populations exist in the Atlantic (99), and they are managed as such (separated by longitude 45°W). However, recent satellite tagging data suggest mixing between populations (100). This new insight complicates management of both stocks and raises questions regarding who is responsible for taking action to rebuild them. Although satellite tagging data reveal location and movement of tuna, the meaning of such information needs to be interpreted and will not necessarily be translated into new governance regimes. Whether or not an RFMO can adjust a fixed management boundary in light of new scientific evidence remains to be seen.

Seabed mining. Significant mineral reserves (in cobalt, copper, gold, iron, manganese, nickel, rare-earth elements, silver, and zinc) exist on, and in the subsurface of, the seabed. Although private sector and state actors have recognized the economic potential of seabed minerals since at least the 1960s, technological challenges and political/regulatory uncertainty, particularly in ABNJ, have made industrial mining untenable (14, 17). However, this is changing and decisions about future mining must weigh private interests against a longer history that designated these minerals common heritage (17). When proposed during initial UNCLOS negotiations, this designation recognized the potential value of minerals, as well as the potential impacts of their removal. Politically, it also guarded against ABNJ enclosure, a possible outcome that Western nations wanted to avoid (14, 17). Although developing countries' vision of deep-sea minerals managed via a UN production company for global benefit was watered down in the 1994 UNCLOS implementing agreement, the common heritage principle remains.

The 1994 implementing agreement established ISA as the regulatory body guiding seabed development, responsible for both distribution of benefits and environmental protection. In ABNJ, exploration and exploitation must adhere to ISA guidelines. The first guidelines for exploration were adopted in 2000, but ISA has yet to provide any for exploitation. Such guidelines are needed, for several reasons. First, recent exploration activities have revealed concentrations of deep-sea mineral deposits to be significantly greater than those of remaining accessible terrestrial resources (101). Second, demand for minerals is expected to increase, given their use in many consumer goods [e.g., cell phones, laptops, hybrid cars, solar panels (101)]. Third, prospects for mining are

imminent; some of the initial exploration contracts granted by ISA are reaching their 15-year limit, and ISA is expected to convert these to exploitation contracts.

Once ISA regulations for mining in ABNJ are in place, ISA member countries will have to meet or exceed ISA standards. Regulations are on the docket for the 2016 ISA session, but a time line for their approval is unknown. In the absence of ISA regulations, coastal states with mineral resources are working to develop their own guidelines, but the world's first deep-sea mining lease was obtained in 2011, when PNG signed an agreement with Nautilus Minerals, a Canadian mining company, prior to the establishment of national guidelines. The cost of developing guidelines is high, particularly for Pacific Island nations where interest in mining is most concentrated. The Secretariat of the Pacific-European Union Deep Sea Minerals Project (SOPAC) aims to address this through a regional approach to seabed mining that will create stronger, harmonized management (http://gsd.spc.int/dsm/). Supported by SOPAC, The Pacific Island Forum Leaders endorsed the Regional Legislative and Regulatory Framework for deep-sea minerals in 2012, and in 2014 Tonga became the first nation to implement supporting law in their Seabed Minerals Act (102).

The key actors seeking to influence emerging governance regimes are countries with mineral resources and countries with mining industries. In ISA, a designated seating system on its Council recognizes the interests of major consumers of seabed minerals, major investors in mining, major exporters of minerals, and special interests (such as small island developing states; see http://www.isa.org.jm). However, as exploitation becomes a reality, broader developed versus developing country politics may emerge, particularly around benefits sharing. Non-mining countries and NGOs committed to biodiversity conservation in ABNJ may also engage more directly. For example, the Deep Sea Conservation Coalition is a group of more than 70 NGOs, fisher organizations, and law and policy institutes that have worked to influence UN regulations on deep-sea bottom trawling. It has criticized ISA for limiting participation and observation by civil society (see http://www.savethehighseas.org).

Although underwater environments are assumed to be undervalued by society, emerging evidence challenges this assumption (103). Public awareness of deep-sea environments is increasing as the same technologies that reveal minerals also reveal unfamiliar and exotic biodiversity. Commercial mining in PNG has faced unexpected resistance prior to any mining taking place; indigenous PNG communities have expressed concern that mining activities will interfere with customary practices such as shark calling (104). Deep-sea mining advocates often promote the minimal human impacts relative to terrestrial mining, but it would be a mistake to assume such impacts are nonexistent (105).

#### **Biodiversity Conservation**

International effort to establish a global network of MPAs is a key feature of contemporary oceans governance (19). At the center of this effort are targets, most notably the CBD target aiming to protect 10% of the ocean by 2020 (106). Although the merits of target-driven conservation are debated (107), targets have dominated the ocean conservation agenda in recent years and are clearly implicated in both the trend toward LMPAs within EEZs and the ongoing effort to establish MPAs in ABNJ (108). Although the total ocean area under protected status is less than 4% (see the WDPA; https://www.iucn.org/about/work/programmes/gpap\_home/gpap\_biodiversity/gpap\_wdpa/), the rate of increase is rapid and is evidence of a broad effort to expand conservation territories at sea.

**Biodiversity conservation in areas beyond national jurisdiction.** There is currently no legally binding mechanism for conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity in ABNJ. Multiple actors have been working toward closing this governance gap for more than a decade, particularly by advocating for an UNCLOS implementing agreement to facilitate the establishment and management of MPAs in ABNJ (10). In 2004, the UN General Assembly established the Ad Hoc Open-ended Informal Working Group to study issues relating to the conservation and sustainable use of marine biological diversity beyond areas of national jurisdiction (hereafter the Working Group). After nine years of meetings, the Working Group submitted in February 2015 a recommendation that the UN develop an international, legally binding instrument under UNCLOS to better enable conservation in ABNJ (109), and in June 2015 the UN General Assembly adopted a resolution to develop such an agreement (36). The agreement will include provisions for a package of issues, including area-based management tools such as MPAs, benefit sharing in relation to marine genetic resources, environmental impact assessments, and capacity building and technology transfer (10). A preparatory committee will negotiate draft text for this agreement and report back to the UN General Assembly by the end of 2017.

In spite of recent advances in scientific knowledge related to biodiversity in ABNJ (59), many aspects of marine biological diversity (e.g., total number of species) will remain unknowable (5). However, MPAs are advocated as one important tool for effectively slowing marine biodiversity loss (110). Scientific efforts to establish criteria for identifying areas in need of increased management have advanced through several parallel UN agencies and processes. The CBD has adopted scientific criteria for identifying ecologically or biologically significant areas (EBSAs) in ABNJ, established an EBSA repository, and identified candidate EBSAs through a series of regional workshops (37), and the FAO has overseen the identification of VMEs through RFMOs (38).

We note three challenges related to the evolving science-policy domain of MPAs in ABNJ. First, the relationship between the EBSA criteria and potential MPAs will need to be negotiated. Although the development of the EBSA criteria was motivated by calls for more effective conservation in ABNJ, including through MPAs, the EBSA process has been repeatedly characterized as a scientific exercise that does not imply any political or management obligations, in order to assuage the concerns of various states (20, 37). Second, although there is complementarity among the various sets of institution-specific criteria, including EBSAs and VMEs (37, 38), the manner in which they might collectively inform the establishment of a network of MPAs in ABNJ is unclear. A systematic approach to conservation planning is needed (9), especially given the lack of cooperation between sectors to date (111). Finally, a systematic approach will need to incorporate social data and engage a broad array of stakeholders (9). The EBSA process has focused explicitly on biological data and criteria and not on use. Extensive research on MPAs within EEZs has demonstrated the importance of accounting for human uses and social context in MPAs (112). Although the social context of ABNJ is quite different from that of inshore areas, there are nonetheless multiple actors and interests (e.g., fisheries, mining, shipping) that will need to be engaged.

To date, the main actors involved in pursuing conservation in ABNJ have been states and NGOs, especially the 27 NGO members of the High Seas Alliance. NGOs have facilitated efforts to establish particular MPAs in ABNJ (42) and lobbied for an UNCLOS implementing agreement (1). Supportive states have also played a key role as champions (42). As with many international environmental issues, conservation in ABNJ is perceived as a rich country issue (20); there has been particular tension between developed and developing countries around benefit sharing in relation to marine genetic resources (10). Although all states have now agreed to negotiations on an implementing agreement, a few, including Canada, the United States, and Russia, have actively resisted this effort (1). It remains to be seen whether and how they will engage in negotiations in

the future. The private sector has not played a prominent role in the discussion thus far, although the World Ocean Council has represented the ocean business community at Working Group meetings as well as Conferences of the Parties to the CBD (113).

Until there is an UNCLOS implementing agreement, and possibly even under the mandate of a new agreement, conservation in ABNJ will need to proceed through existing institutions (111). A scalar narrative has thus emerged that identifies MPAs in ABNJ as science-based tools for the conservation of a global good that must be realized through regional agreements and organizations (20). The only MPAs in ABNJ have arisen in this manner, e.g., the OSPAR Commission in the Northeast Atlantic (114). Although these MPAs in ABNJ offer proof of concept for regional cooperation that integrates concerns for both biodiversity conservation and sustainable use of fisheries (9), they are also challenged by their nonbinding/voluntary status, inability to enforce their regulations on nonparties, and limitations of consensus-based decision making (111, 114).

Large marine protected areas. The recent expansion in LMPAs began in the early 2000s, with 16 new sites designated between 2006 and 2014, and at least four more currently under development (115). LMPAs have been variously defined as MPAs larger than 30,000 km<sup>2</sup> (116), 100,000 km<sup>2</sup> (108), or 250,000 km<sup>2</sup> (117). They account for most of the significant increase in global MPA coverage from 0.5% in 2010 to 2.93% in 2013 (108, 118), leading some to conclude that they provide the "best hope for arresting the global decline in marine biodiversity" (117, p. 7). Others, including many conservationists, are skeptical about their conservation value (119) and critical of their social implications (116); although helping to meet numerical targets, LMPAs may not be effectively managed (119). There is an emerging debate about the unique opportunities and challenges of "going big "(120), with many open questions about how LMPAs function as governing systems.

As vast ocean spaces often remote from populated areas, LMPAs pose numerous scale-related governance challenges. One concern is about effective monitoring and enforcement in such large areas and the potential illusion of conservation created by paper parks (119). Interest and investment in new surveillance technologies is developing rapidly, however. In addition to Global Fishing Watch, The Pew Charitable Trusts in partnership with the company Satellite Applications Catapult have developed Eyes on the Seas, a project that merges satellite tracking and imagery data with fishing vessel databases and oceanographic data to identify suspicious activities in a "Virtual Watch Room" (121). Another scalar challenge for LMPAs relates to institutional interactions. National LMPA policies that affect large portions of EEZs may interact with other institutional arrangements in new patterns with as yet unclear consequences. For example, LMPAs that ban fishing in large portions of EEZs, such as that in Palau, will interact with bilateral and multilateral tuna access agreements in ways that smaller MPAs would not (115).

Although empirical research has been limited, the emerging dynamics of decision making for LMPAs variously support and challenge theories of shrunken state and expanded civil society roles in environmental governance. There is a common assumption that remote LMPAs will be politically easier to establish than smaller MPAs closer to shore, with fewer challenges from local stakeholders (108, 122). Under this assumption, several sites have been developed through top-down processes initiated at the highest levels of government by state actors and international conservation organizations (116, 123). The largest nongovernmental programs promoting LMPAs include The Pew Charitable Trusts, Global Ocean Legacy project that aims to establish 15 marine reserves 200,000 km<sup>2</sup> or larger by 2022, and National Geographic's Pristine Seas project that is working with governments to establish no-take LMPAs in remote areas. The Global Ocean Legacy project is funded by philanthropic foundations, and the Pristine Seas project is supported through foundation and private sector funds. Although additional research is needed, at this stage it appears

that a significant number of LMPAs reflect hybrid forms of governance through which centralized governments are driving efforts to conserve vast ocean areas in partnership with national and international conservation NGOs and donors. The extent to which other nonstate actors (e.g., industry, indigenous populations) are engaged in the initiation and development of LMPAs is an open and important question (121).

In contrast to activities in ABNJ, science and scientists have so far played a relatively limited role in the development of LMPAs. Marine ecologists have long argued that MPAs and reserves must be scaled up to provide significant conservation benefits (124), and LMPAs have been promoted for their ability to protect connected ecosystems, habitats not often included in smaller MPAs, and highly migratory species (120). Critics question these benefits, suggesting that LMPAs in practice are established in residual, unthreatened areas to advance progress toward global targets while minimizing costs and conflict with resource users (122). There is little empirical work to resolve such debates. The establishment of LMPAs has progressed ahead of the relevant science, and research agendas are being articulated in response to their rapid development (115, 125). There is a need for both biophysical and social science research to inform the ongoing management of existing LMPAs as well as the establishment of new ones.

#### **Global Environmental Change**

The ocean activities and governance efforts described in previous sections are taking place in the context of environmental change. The oceans are critically important to the global environment and climate regulation, and there is considerable interest in better understanding, measuring, and valuing the ecosystem services oceans provide. The intersection of oceans and climate governance is manifesting in the rapid emergence of new environmental concerns and proposed solutions. This section looks at one emerging concern—OA—and one proposed solution—BC. These two issues have recently been prioritized on the global oceans agenda. For example, in *A Blueprint for Ocean and Coastal Sustainability* (126), a high-profile interagency UN report prepared for Rio+20, developing OA and BC governance strategies are proposals 1A and 1B toward future ocean and coastal sustainability.

**Ocean acidification.** The chemical mechanisms behind OA are well known (127), as are many of its direct impacts on certain taxa. As the oceans take up increasing atmospheric  $CO_2$ , chemical interactions reduce seawater pH (acidifying the seas) and decrease the concentration of carbonate ions necessary to form biologically important minerals such as aragonite and calcite. Mollusks, some gastropods, corals, and coralline algae rely on these minerals for shell and skeletal formation, and decreasing seawater mineral saturations inhibit proper growth (7, 127). Some fishes and other organisms experience altered larval development and brain function due to lowered pH (128, 129).

Scaling up OA's effects is a complicated task, and the relationships between OA's direct impacts and indirect ecosystem interactions are often unclear (130). For example, current OA research methods can make only limited predictions about food web interactions (128), and physiological responses vary across species and individuals (131). New research is working to address these gaps, for example finding that OA's indirect effects of habitat modification may have farreaching consequences for fish populations (132). Further complexity arises as OA interacts with other ocean stressors such as ocean warming and deoxygenation or localized acidification events linked to seasonal and regional variation (3). Although OA is globally dependent on atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, coastal pH is influenced by local processes such as eutrophication, riverine runoff, and nearshore upwelling (129, 133). Although OA's impacts on global oceans are largely negative, they are not uniform. There will likely be winners and losers with variable consequences for both ecosystems and people (128). To account for these factors, improve future research, and better predict outcomes, scientists have called for reexamining OA through ecological theory that remains underapplied within the field (e.g., foraging theory, competition theory, biodiversity models) and suggest new research opportunities that explicitly take complexity into account (e.g., multiple stressors and evolutionary adaptation to OA) (130).

Currently, OA research and advocacy is largely driven by the scientific community, and other actors have only recently engaged OA in governance discussions (1). These actors debate both the available governance mechanisms (134) and the appropriate scale at which to address OA (135). More generally, the literature attends primarily to OA's economic and management implications, and the social and political dimensions of OA (e.g., impacts on communities or food security) are understudied (127, 135, 136). Regardless, it is clear that addressing OA may necessitate new governance interventions. For instance, coral reef area losses (136) and harvest reductions in fisheries and shellfish aquaculture (127, 137) could have significant economic costs across scales. To address this, new research has begun to explicitly include OA in integrated fisheries models (138), gauge public understanding of OA to inform better policy and management (139), and investigate emerging OA science and connect it to communities and policymakers alike (140). As Frisch et al. (139) show, even in a heavily fisheries-reliant region (Alaska) where residents are aware of OA, there is limited public understanding of its biological and economic risks.

Perhaps in response to growing frustration with global inaction on  $CO_2$  policy (1), governance discussions have recently shifted away from framing OA as the "other-  $CO_2$  problem," a companion to global climate change, toward a new emphasis on local and regional action (129, 133). This includes taking OA into account in (sub)national fisheries and aquaculture management (135), coastal planning and pollution laws (133), and local adaptation measures, while still acknowledging the importance of global  $CO_2$  mitigation. This multiscalar approach brings together new actors in governance processes—such as industry, community, and regional actors—to enact OA programs at smaller scales. This is important due to the likely heterogeneity and inequity of OA impacts; many of the poorest coastal areas that rely heavily for food and income on small-scale reef and shellfish fisheries are expected to be most adversely impacted by acidification (129, 137). Efforts to engage new actors, science, and policies at smaller scales and to explore governance options that address local impacts while providing secondary benefits (e.g., pollution reduction) are emerging trends (133, 135). Rather than considering OA a singular global event, it may be more appropriately understood as a process that affects seawater, organisms, and peoples differently across space and time.

**Blue carbon.** BC is carbon stored in vegetated coastal ecosystems such as salt marshes, mangrove forests, and seagrass meadows (141), ecosystems that account for nearly half of the total carbon in ocean sediments and sequester carbon more quickly than terrestrial ecosystems (142). Researchers, policymakers, and other actors are working to quantify and value these habitats to support new BC governance strategies (141). Many proposed BC strategies involve monetizing coastal ecosystem services to trade on global and regional markets and draw theoretical inspiration from terrestrial payments for ecosystem services (PES) programs such as REDD+ (143, 144). They aim to provide a market-based oceans "solution" that addresses global environmental change as well as local coastal issues and are supported by many international, state, and NGO actors (142). For example, the Blue Carbon Initiative—a globally-funded partnership led by IOC-UNESCO, Conservation International, and the International Union for Conservation of Nature—is developing climate and coastal policy focused on BC management and sustainability, with an emphasis on valuation of services and financial governance mechanisms (http://thebluecarboninitiative.org). More

generally, BC scientists and policymakers are exploring ways to enroll BC in both new and existing carbon markets (e.g., adding mangroves to REDD+ or trading BC credits on regional voluntary markets) (143, 145).

BC strategies are representative of a more general shift toward governance characterized by an emerging Blue Economy discourse that focuses on the natural capital of oceans and coastal spaces (2). BC PES strategies continue the trend of commodifying nature in order to conserve it (31). Although this may offer real environmental benefits in some cases, it is also problematic, given that ocean and coastal spaces are often public or common property, rather than privately owned and managed. Many BC strategies require rationalizing this complexity by subsuming coastal ecosystems into the sphere of capital, a difficult and potentially detrimental process for local environments and peoples. Thomas (146, p. 34), for example, explains that although BC "represents an opportunity to support sustainability outcomes" in Malaysia's proposed Tun Mustapha Park, establishing BC programs requires navigating complicated and sometimes overlooked local factors ranging from race relations to local informal governance arrangements. In fisheries, market-based regulatory reform has met with resistance in some places while disrupting traditional practices and social relations, such as labor and wage patterns (147). In the terrestrial context, the REDD+ projects that provide models for many BC strategies have had variable outcomes both ecologically and socially (148), resulting in significant concerns over social justice, adverse community impacts, and governance gaps (149). More generally, PES schemes require translating ecosystem science into prices in ways that are sometimes incomplete or even incoherent (150), creating commodities and markets that do not reflect the multifaceted value of nature.

Ecosystem science and valuation is critical to BC strategies. In particular, ecologists, economists, and others work to determine the total areas of BC ecosystems and their carbon stores, rates of carbon sequestration, and potential carbon emissions if transformed (e.g., for aquaculture or development). Although this research has rapidly increased since 2005 (142), in part due to technical advances in remote sensing, it is still limited and many of these values are uncertain (143). Global salt marsh estimates are unclear due to ambiguous recordkeeping and categorizations, and global seagrass extent is also uncertain (142). Even though global mangrove forest cover is better estimated, the dynamic nature of these habitats means carbon sequestration rates can vary dramatically across space and time (151). Similarly, shoreline erosion can limit or overwhelm the carbon storage capacity of salt marshes by narrowing the ecosystems, potentially turning some coastal carbon sinks into net sources (152). Quantifying BC ecosystem services is further complicated as these spaces provide other roles and functions beyond carbon storage. Mangroves offer shoreline and erosion protection, ameliorating storm damage or sea level rise (142). Sea grass beds can locally buffer acidifying seas, protecting nearby coral reefs (153), and many coastal environments have cultural value. It is not immediately apparent how these diversities of values can be quantified and enrolled in market regimes, although some scholars suggest broader PES schemes that account for noncarbon services may be more successful for BC ecosystems (154). Alternatively, BC may be better viewed as a new consideration for more traditional environmental regulation (e.g., habitat conservation laws or ocean and shoreline restoration programs), rather than requiring a market-based approach for its management. Regardless, as with OA, BC governance will likely require engaging new actors beyond the scientific and NGO communities, as well as new social science to examine and inform policy interventions at local and global scales (145).

#### Pollution

Ocean pollution has been a concern since at least the 1970s, but recent attention to plastic-waste pollution warrants its inclusion here. Early UN efforts to address ocean pollution focused on

sea-based activities, and the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships, adopted in 1973, added a 1998 Annex V that imposed a ban on the disposal of all forms of plastics at sea. Attention has since shifted to plastic-waste leakage from land-based activities, and the 1995 Global Program of Action for the Protection of the Marine Environment from Land-based Activities included litter as a concern. Nevertheless, the plastics problem has grown as plastics have become ubiquitous in global trade, particularly in packaging, and as human population growth in coastal areas has increased. A 2015 study estimates plastics entering oceans from land at 4.8–12 metric tons annually, and that without improvements to waste management infrastructure there will be 1 ton of plastic for every 3 tons of fish by 2025 (155). These types of figures have put plastics at the forefront of ocean pollution concern: "Because of its longevity, ubiquity, and sheer volume, plastic debris is emerging as a new, truly global challenge" (156, p. 3).

Scientific studies of plastics estimate amounts entering the ocean (155), model where they go (157), and assess their impacts (158); they also inform policy debates. For example, concern was once directed at large plastics floating at the ocean surface; washed up on shore, they are an aesthetic nuisance and expensive to remove, and at sea they entangle and/or are ingested by large marine mammals, fish, and sea birds (159). Although these concerns remain, attention is focused increasingly on microplastics that result both from the breakdown of large plastics and from direct release into the water system due to their prevalence in personal care and other household products. The size of microplastics means that they pass through filtration devices in water treatment systems and can be taken up by microorganisms such as zooplankton, thus entering the food web at the lowest levels. Impacts on ingesting organisms have been shown, and these potentially bioaccumulate in the food chain, including in human consumers of fish. Mitchell (160) argues that these new understandings of microplastics and their potential effects on humans effectively challenge the traditional boundaries established between the human and nonhuman, between places of people (land) and places of nature (oceans).

The shift from sea-based to land-based plastic-waste leakage and the inclusion of microplastics as a concern expands the realm of governance actors engaged in the issue to include governments that provide and/or regulate waste management infrastructure, the private sector that uses plastics for products and packaging, consumers who make purchasing and disposal decisions, and NGOs that have led efforts to raise public awareness and galvanize national and international action. In some of the countries with the highest levels of plastic-waste leakage, the informal sector—trash pickers—are stakeholders that will be affected by and critical to changed waste management practices and should not be overlooked (156).

Although targeted efforts and resources directed toward improving waste management in a small number of countries with the highest amount of plastic-waste leakage hold promise (155), the global problem will require regionally specific solutions. Analysts variously promote marketbased incentives directed at consumer and producer behavior (161); technological innovation to collect plastics from oceans; improved waste management infrastructure (155); and government regulation, including banning particular products (162). In the United States, several municipalities and counties have banned (or taxed the use of) plastic bags, and Congress and Senate recently approved a ban on the production (effective July 2017) and sale (effective July 2018) of personal care products containing plastic microbeads. Reducing and/or eliminating use of plastics helps to balance the distribution of costs and benefits associated with addressing the plastics problem. For example, although a small percentage of plastic-waste leakage originating from the United States is a result of mismanagement, high per capita plastic consumption puts the United States in the top 20 countries contributing to plastic-waste leakage globally (155). Focusing only on waste management practices in the top polluting countries belies the complexity of the plastics problem and its ties to the global economy.

# CONCLUSIONS

In this final section, we highlight the similarities and differences in the ways in which actors, scale, and knowledge are relevant for efforts to govern new and emerging ocean issues. Actors engaged in oceans governance vary by issue, sometimes reinforcing and sometimes challenging the existing political framework for oceans governance. States and UN institutions continue to play key roles, particularly in ABNJ and for traditional conservation and development issues, such as establishing MPAs or rules for seabed mining. NGOs are making inroads on other issues, however, sometimes in partnership with states as in LMPAs, sometimes with scientists as in conservation in ABNJ, and sometimes with the private sector as in new ocean surveillance efforts, such as Global Fishing Watch. The private sector has specific interests in extractive activities, such as seabed mining and tuna fishing, but is increasingly attending to broader policymaking processes, working collaboratively through groups such as the World Ocean Council. For some issues such as plastic pollution, engagement of all actors is necessary for a comprehensive and effective solution to the problem.

Although we have highlighted distinct and sometimes conflicting interests of diverse actors throughout, here we note a familiar dynamic that runs through our review, i.e., tensions between the Global North and the Global South, or developed and developing countries. We see it across oceans issues, primarily in the story of developed country actors asserting their power over their developing country counterparts, e.g., via certification schemes that establish global standards for developing country producers and sometimes undermine state authority, northern NGOs pursuing a conservation agenda on the high seas, and northern firms getting favorable deals in tuna. Although there is resistance to this dynamic—as seen in the Nauru Agreement on tuna, developing country insistence on a package deal for the ABNJ, and the human rights versus property rights emphasis in FAO-SSF Guidelines—the divide between the developed and developing world remains prominent in oceans governance, even as actors involved in governance have evolved.

Our review has highlighted the importance of scale in multiple ways. First, scalar mismatches are evident in new and emerging issues and in efforts to govern them. RFMO governance of tuna fisheries might be necessary from an ecological perspective but has disadvantaged small island states and favored fishing fleets and their home nations. The Nauru Agreement challenges this system, via regional cooperation. Cooperation among Pacific Island nations to set appropriate environmental impact and benefits sharing rules for seabed mining in their EEZs before mining begins may avoid repeating the experience of tuna fisheries. Global FAO-SSF guidelines that emphasize local rights and needs may improve outlooks for fish stocks and people through multiscalar governance regimes such as co-management. A shift in focus from framing OA as primarily a global problem to a focus on questions of local adaptation and resilience may bring new and important actors into the science-dominated discussion and result in more diverse governance efforts. These responses to scalar mismatch are promising, but there are also cases where global narratives—of the need for more MPAs, fisheries certification, and market-based solutions—are driving initiatives that have the potential to marginalize local actors and overlook their diverse connections to coastal and marine ecosystems.

Knowing the oceans remains primarily a function of science. Science and technology are implicated in multiple ways, facilitating new exploitation opportunities (e.g., seabed mining) and informing BMPs for these (e.g., aquaculture). Science is determining where conservation efforts should be focused (e.g., EBSAs) and revealing new information on ocean resources that are complicating existing management (e.g., tuna fisheries). In some cases, development and conservation interventions have had little scientific basis (e.g., SSFs and LMPAs), and data gaps constrain the ability to evaluate the impacts and effectiveness of particular interventions.

In almost all cases, science has focused on resources and ecosystems rather than human use of or values attached to these, or institutional arrangements for their governance. This is partly a function of constructions of oceans as unpeopled and human interests as remote (e.g., in ABNJ and LMPAs). It also results from framing problems as technical, ones of identifying EBSAs, developing aquaculture BMPs, calculating BC, or predicting OA impacts. In SSFs, historical lack of scientific attention reflects marginalization of SSF fisheries in global fisheries science.

The tendency to overlook or understate human uses and values is reflected in many emerging governance regimes, for example, in some LMPAs that are being established with limited consultation and without a full understanding of the potential social, economic, and political impacts, and in efforts to protect biodiversity in ABNJ that have yet to engage resource users. Aquaculture and SSF certification schemes do account for human values, but those of seafood consumers rather than producers. The FAO-SSF Guidelines stand out as an exception in this review, attending as much to questions of resource access, human rights, and food security as they do to questions of fisheries ecology. In many cases, predetermined governance preferences—for MPAs in ABNJ, for LMPAs, for PES—are driving research efforts. Data gaps remain in our understanding of the biophysical features of oceans, but data gaps related to diverse human values, uses, and institutions for oceans are pronounced, and new research efforts to inform governance should address both.

Efforts to guide future oceans governance are ongoing and outcomes, both general and specific to issues discussed here, are anything but predetermined (2). For example, broader trends toward market-based environmental governance are evident for some ocean issues (BC, aquaculture and SSF certification schemes), but not for others. For tuna fishing and seabed mining, governance by national and multinational government remains key. Similarly, for LMPAs, traditional state support for protection is a prerequisite, although such support is now encouraged and incentivized by NGOs and other nonstate actors. Some emerging oceans governance efforts seem to indicate further privatization and/or enclosure of the ocean commons (e.g., aquaculture, MPAs), whereas others, such as the FAO-SSF Guidelines, challenge this logic.

We see opportunity to create governance regimes that support environmental sustainability and human well-being. These opportunities exist in part because of governance gaps and in part because governance processes are evolving, with ever-changing emphases on who participates and what types of information inform them. Although existing political frameworks and dominant social constructions of oceans are often a constraint, opportunities exist for new actors to exert influence, and are enhanced by our increasing ability to see and know oceans and for actors to work across scales. New actors and technologies could help break down old ideas about scale in the oceans, bridging scales or even descaling the complexity of ocean problems. For example, by working both in communities and on a global/regional carbon market, an NGO (or any other actor) might ultimately transcend governance gaps in ways that were not possible when oceans governance was in the realm of the state and multinational institutions alone. Whether such an outcome increases democratic participation and strengthens global civil society or reinforces existing power imbalances between developed and developing countries remains to be seen. However, these and other governance questions are ones that social scientists can and will continue to pose and explore in ways that might support progressive politics and practices for oceans governance.

#### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

All authors contributed to the intellectual framing as well as theoretical and topical scoping of this work. There are no gift or ghost authors. L.M.C. was lead author. In addition, author groups formed to review and write about new and emerging issues as follows: food production (X.B. and B.A.D.), industrialization (J.J.S. and L.M.C.), biodiversity conservation (N.J.G. and R.L.G.), global environmental change (L.F.), and pollution (L.M.C.).

# LITERATURE CITED

- Campbell LM, Gray NJ, Fairbanks LW, Silver JJ, Gruby RL. 2013. Oceans at Rio+20. Conserv. Lett. 6:439–47
- Silver JJ, Gray NJ, Campbell LM, Fairbanks LW, Gruby RL. 2015. Tracking Blue Economy and humanoceans discourse at Rio+20. *Environ. Dev.* 24:135–160
- 3. Miles EL. 2009. On the increasing vulnerability of the world ocean to multiple stresses. *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour.* 34:17–41
- Abbott J, Anderson JL, Campling L, Hannesson R, Havice E, et al. 2014. Steering the Global Partnership for Oceans. *Mar. Resour. Econ.* 29:1–16
- 5. Sala E, Knowlton N. 2006. Global marine biodiversity trends. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 31:93-122
- Chisholm SW, Olson RJ, Zettler ER, Waterbury J, Goericke R, Welschmeyer N. 1988. A novel freeliving prochlorophyte occurs at high cell concentrations in the oceanic euphotic zone. *Nature* 334:340–43
- Doney SC, Fabry VJ, Feely RA, Kleypas JA. 2009. Ocean acidification: the other CO<sub>2</sub> problem. *Annu. Rev. Mar. Sci.* 1:169–92
- 8. Tao C, Li H, Jin X, Zhou J, Wu T, et al. 2014. Seafloor hydrothermal activity and polymetallic sulfide exploration on the southwest Indian ridge. *Chinese Sci. Bull.* 59:2266–76
- Ban NC, Bax NJ, Gjerde KM, Devillers R, Dunn DC, et al. 2014. Systematic conservation planning: a better recipe for managing the high seas for biodiversity conservation and sustainable use. *Conserv. Lett.* 7:41–54
- Druel E, Gjerde KM. 2014. Sustaining marine life beyond boundaries: options for an implementing agreement for marine biodiversity beyond national jurisdiction under the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea. *Mar. Policy* 49:90–97
- 11. Sagarin RD, Turnipseed M. 2012. The Public Trust Doctrine: where ecology meets natural resources management. *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour.* 37:473–96
- Basurto X, Bennett A, Weaver AH, Rodriguez-Van Dyck S, Aceves-Bueno J-S. 2013. Cooperative and noncooperative strategies for small-scale fisheries' self-governance in the globalization era: implications for conservation. *Ecol. Soc.* 18:438
- Campbell LM, Gray NJ, Hazen EL, Shackeroff JM. 2009. Beyond baselines: rethinking priorities for ocean conservation. *Ecol. Soc.* 14:14
- 14. Steinberg PE. 2001. The Social Construction of the Ocean. New York: Cambridge Univ. Press
- 15. Steinberg PE. 2008. It's so easy being green: overuse, underexposure, and the marine environmental consensus. *Geogra. Compass* 2:2080–96
- Mansfield B. 2004. Neoliberalism in the oceans: "rationalization," property rights, and the commons question. *Geoforum* 35:313–36
- Zalik A. 2015. Trading on the offshore: territorialization and the ocean grab in the international seabed. In Beyond Free Trade: Alternative Approaches to Trade, Politics, and Power, ed. K Ervine, G Fridell, pp. 173–90. London: Palgrave Macmillan
- United Nations Environ. Progr. (UNEP), FAO, IMO, UNDP, IUCN, et al. 2012. Green Economy in a Blue World. Nairobi, Kenya: UNEP http://www.unep.org/greeneconomy and www.unep.org/regionalseas
- Gray N. 2010. Sea change: exploring the international effort to promote marine protected areas. Conserv. Soc. 8:331–38
- Gray NJ, Gruby RL, Campbell LM. 2014. Boundary objects and global consensus: scalar narratives of marine conservation in the Convention on Biological Diversity. *Glob. Environ. Policy* 14:64–83

- 21. Chuenpagdee R. 2011. World Small-Scale Fisheries Contemporary Visions. Delft, The Netherlands: Eburon Acad. Publ.
- Biermann F, Pattberg P. 2008. Global environmental governance: taking stock, moving forward. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 33:277–94
- Dingwerth K, Pattberg P. 2006. Global governance as a perspective on world politics. *Glob. Gov.* 12:185–203
- 24. Betsill MM, Corell E, eds. 2008. NGO Diplomacy: The Influence of Nongovernment Organizations in International Environmental Negotiations. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- 25. McCarthy J. 2005. Scale, sovereignty, and strategy in environmental governance. Antipode 37:731-53
- 26. Lemos MC, Agrawal A. 2006. Environmental governance. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 31:297-325
- Andonova LB, Mitchell RB. 2010. The rescaling of global environmental politics. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 35:255–82
- Haas PM. 1989. Do regimes matter? Epistemic communities and Mediterranean pollution control. Int. Organ. 43:377–403
- Miller C. 2001. Hybrid management: boundary organizations, science policy, and environmental governance in the climate regime. Sci. Technol. Hum. Values 26:478–500
- Jasanoff S. 1996. Science and norms in global environmental regimes. In *Earthly Goods: Environmental Change and Social Justice*, ed. FO Hampson, J Reppy, pp. 173–97. Ithaca, NY: Cornell Univ. Press
- Büscher B, Sullivan S, Neves K, Igoe J, Brockington D. 2012. Towards a synthesized critique of neoliberal biodiversity conservation. *Capital. Nat. Social.* 23:4–30
- Gruby RL, Campbell LM. 2013. Scalar politics and the region: strategies for transcending Pacific Island smallness on a global environmental governance stage. *Environ. Plann. A* 45:2046–63
- Jentoft S, van Son TC, Bjørkan M. 2007. Marine protected areas: a governance system analysis. *Hum. Ecol.* 35:611–22
- Evans LS, Ban NC, Schoon M, Nenadovic M. 2014. Keeping the 'Great' in the Great Barrier Reef: large-scale governance of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. Int. J. Commons 8:396–427
- 35. UN General Assembly. 2015. Transforming our world: the 2030 agenda for sustainable development. Resolut. A/RES/70/1, Gen. Assem., 70th Sess., New York, Oct. 21. http://www.un.org/ga/search/ view\_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/70/1&Lang=E
- 36. UN General Assembly. 2015. Development of an international legally binding instrument under the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea on the conservation and sustainable use of marine biological diversity of areas beyond national jurisdiction. Resolut. A/RES/69/292, Gen. Assem., 69th Sess., New York, June 19. http://www.un.org/en/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/69/292
- Dunn DC, Ardron J, Bax N, Bernal P, Cleary J, et al. 2014. The Convention on Biological Diversity's ecologically or biologically significant areas: origins, development, and current status. *Mar. Policy* 49:137– 45
- Ardron JA, Clark MR, Penney AJ, Hourigan TF, Rowden AA, et al. 2014. A systematic approach towards the identification and protection of vulnerable marine ecosystems. *Mar. Policy* 49:146–54
- Corson C, Campbell LM, McDonald KI. 2014. Capturing the personal in politics: ethnographies of global environmental governance. *Glob. Environ. Policy* 14:21–40
- Parmentier R. 2012. Role and impact of international NGOs in global ocean governance. Ocean Yearb. Online 26:209–29
- Sievanen L, Gruby RL, Campbell LM. 2013. Fixing marine governance in Fiji? The new scalar narrative of ecosystem-based management. *Glob. Environ. Change* 23:206–16
- Freestone D, Johnson D, Ardron J, Morrison KK, Unger S. 2014. Can existing institutions protect biodiversity in areas beyond national jurisdiction? Experiences from two on-going processes. *Mar. Policy* 49:167–75
- Balboa CM. 2014. How successful transnational non-governmental organizations set themselves up for failure on the ground. *World Dev.* 54:273–87
- Agardy T. 2005. Global marine conservation policy versus site-level implementation: the mismatch of scale and its implications. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* 300:242–47
- Benson Wahlén C. 2014. Understanding varying approaches among conservation professionals: a case study from Papua New Guinea. *Hum. Ecol.* 42:413–24

- 46. UN Food Agric. Org. (FAO). 2014. Voluntary Guidelines for Securing Sustainable Small-Scale Fisheries in the Context of Food Security and Poverty Eradication. Rome: FAO
- 47. O'Neill K, Weinthal E, Marion Suiseeya KR, Bernstein S, Cohn A, et al. 2013. Methods and global environmental governance. *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour.* 38:441–71
- Berkes F. 2006. From community-based resource management to complex systems: the scale issue and marine commons. *Ecol. Soc.* 11:45
- 49. Palumbi SR. 2004. Marine reserves and ocean neighborhoods: the spatial scale of marine populations and their management. *Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour.* 29:31–68
- Barkin JS, DeSombre ER. 2013. Saving Global Fisheries: Reducing Fishing Capacity to Promote Sustainability. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Melick D, Kinch J, Govan H. 2012. How global biodiversity targets risk becoming counterproductive: the case of Papua New Guinea. *Conserv. Soc.* 10:344–53
- Campbell LM. 2007. Reconciling local conservation practice with global discourse: a political ecology of sea turtle conservation. Ann. Assoc. Am. Geogr. 97:313–34
- Campbell LM, Silver JJ, Gray NJ, Ranger S, Broderick A, et al. 2009. Co-management of sea turtle fisheries: biogeography versus geopolitics. *Mar. Policy* 33:137–45
- Campbell LM, Godfrey MH. 2010. Geo-political genetics: claiming the commons through species mapping. *Geoforum* 41:897–907
- Gruby RL, Basurto X. 2013. Multi-level governance for large marine commons: politics and polycentricity in Palau's protected area network. *Environ. Sci. Pol.* 33:260–72
- St. Martin K, Hall-Arber M. 2008. The missing layer: geo-technologies, communities, and implications for marine spatial planning. *Mar. Policy* 32:779–86
- 57. Halpern BS, Walbridge S, Selkoe KA, Kappel CV, Micheli F, et al. 2008. A global map of human impact on marine ecosystems. *Science* 319:948–52
- Humphris SE. 2009. Vehicles for deep sea exploration. In *Elements of Physical Oceanography: A Derivative of the Encyclopedia of Ocean Sciences*, ed. JH Steele, SA Thorpe, KK Turekian, pp. 197–209. London: Elsevier
- 59. Census of Marine Life. 2011. Scientific Results to Support the Sustainable Use and Conservation of Marine Life: A Summary of the Census of Marine Life for Decision Makers. Washington, DC: Census of Marine Life Int. Secr.
- 60. Worm B, Barbier EB, Beaumont N, Duffy JE, Folke C, et al. 2006. Impacts of biodiversity loss on ocean ecosystem services. *Science* 314:787–90
- Arnason R, Kelleher K, Willmann R. 2008. The Sunken Billions: The Economic Justification for Fisheries Reform. Washington, DC: World Bank/FAO
- Berkes F, Hughes TP, Steneck RS, Wilson JA, Bellwood DR, et al. 2006. Globalization, roving bandits, and marine resources. *Science* 311:1557–58
- Campbell LM, Hagerman S, Gray NJ. 2014. Producing targets for conservation: science and politics at the Tenth Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity. *Global Environ. Pol.* 14:41–63
- 64. Tsing AL. 2005. Friction: An Ethnography of Global Connection. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- Brosius JP, Russell D. 2003. Conservation from above imposing transboundary conservation: an anthropological perspective on transboundary protected areas and ecoregional planning cooperation between internationally adjoining protected areas. *J. Sustain. Forestr.* 17:39–65
- St. Martin K. 2001. Making space for community resource management in fisheries. Ann. Assoc. Am. Geogr. 91:122–42
- 67. Cao L, Naylor R, Henriksson P, Leadbitter D, Metian M, et al. 2015. China's aquaculture and the world's wild fisheries. *Science* 347:133–35
- 68. FAO. 2014. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. Rome, Italy: FAO
- Pauly D. 1997. Small-scale fisheries in the tropics: marginality, marginalization, and some implications for fisheries management. In *Global Trends: Fisheries Management*, ed. EK Pikitch, DD Huppert, MP Sissenwine, pp. 40–49. Bethesda, MD: Am. Fish. Soc.

- de Graaf GJ, Grainger RJR, Westlund L, Willmann R, Mills D, et al. 2011. The status of routine fishery data collection in Southeast Asia, Central America, the South Pacific, and West Africa, with special reference to small-scale fisheries. *ICES J. Mar. Sci.* 68:1743–50
- Pollnac RB. 1985. Social and cultural characteristics of small-scale fishery development. In *Putting People First: Sociological Variables in Rural Development*, ed. MM Cernea, pp. 189–223. Washington, DC: World Bank
- 72. Jentoft S. 2014. Walking the talk: implementing the international voluntary guidelines for securing sustainable small-scale fisheries. *Marit. Stud.* 13:16
- Béné C, Arthur R, Norbury H, Allison EH, Beveridge M, et al. 2016. Contribution of fisheries and aquaculture to food security and poverty reduction: assessing the current evidence. *World Dev.* 79:177– 96
- Cinner JE, Huchery C, Hicks CC, Daw TM, Marshall N, et al. 2015. Changes in adaptive capacity of Kenyan fishing communities. *Nat. Clim. Change* 5:872–76
- 75. Hilborn R, Parrish JK, Litle K. 2005. Fishing rights or fishing wrongs? Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 15:191-99
- Johnson C. 2004. Uncommon ground: the 'poverty of history' in common property discourse. Dev. Change 35:407–34
- Ponte S. 2008. Greener than thou: the political economy of fish ecolabeling and its local manifestations in South Africa. World Dev. 36:159–75
- 78. Stratoudakis Y, McConney P, Duncan J, Ghofar A, Gitonga N, 2015. Fisheries certification in the developing world: locks and keys or square pegs in round holes? *Fish. Res.* In press
- Berkes F. 1986. Local-level management and the commons problem: a comparative study of Turkish coastal fisheries. *Mar. Policy* 10:215–29
- McCay BJ, Jentoft S. 1996. From the bottom up: participatory issues in fisheries management. Soc. Nat. Resour. 9:237–50
- Davis A, Ruddle K. 2012. Massaging the misery: recent approaches to fisheries governance and the betrayal of small-scale fisheries. *Hum. Organ.* 71:244–54
- De Silva SS. 2012. Climate change impacts: challenges for aquaculture. In Farming the Waters for People and Food: Proceedings of the Global Conference on Aquaculture 2010, Phuket, Thailand. 22–25 September 2010, ed. RP Subasinghe, JR Arthur, DM Bartley, SS De Silva, M Halwart, et al. pp. 75–110. Rome, FAO; Bangkok, Thai., Netw. Aquacult. Cent. Asia-Pac.
- Klinger D, Naylor R. 2012. Searching for solutions in aquaculture: charting a sustainable course. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 37:247–76
- Islam MS. 2014. Confronting the Blue Revolution: Industrial Aquaculture and Sustainability in the Global South. Toronto, Can.: Univ. Toronto Press
- World Bank. 2007. Changing the Face of the Waters: The Promise and Challenge of Sustainable Aquaculture. Washington, DC: World Bank
- Jonell M, Phillips M, Rönnbäck P, Troell M. 2013. Eco-certification of farmed seafood: Will it make a difference? *Ambio* 42:659–74
- Bush SR, Belton B, Hall D, Vandergeest P, Murray FJ, et al. 2013. Certify sustainable aquaculture. Science 341:1067–68
- Kalfagianni A, Pattberg P. 2013. Fishing in muddy waters: exploring the conditions for effective governance of fisheries and aquaculture. *Mar. Policy* 38:124–32
- Vandergeest P, Unno A. 2012. A new extraterritoriality? Aquaculture certification, sovereignty, and empire. *Polit. Geogr.* 31:358–67
- Campbell B, Pauly D. 2013. Mariculture: a global analysis of production trends since 1950. Mar. Policy 39:94–100
- Belton B, Little D. 2008. The development of aquaculture in central Thailand: domestic demand versus export-led production. J. Agrar. Change 8:123–43
- Barclay K. 2010. Impacts of tuna industries on coastal communities in Pacific Island countries. Mar. Policy 34:406–13
- 93. Campling L, Havice E. 2014. The problem of property in industrial fisheries. J. Peasant Stud. 41:707-27
- Havice E, Reed K. 2012. Fishing for development? Tuna resource access and industrial change in Papua New Guinea. J. Agrar. Change 12:413–35

- Havice E, Campling L. 2013. Articulating upgrading: island developing states and canned tuna production. *Environ. Plann. A* 45:2610–27
- 96. Havice E. 2013. Rights-based management in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean tuna fishery: economic and environmental change under the Vessel Day Scheme. *Mar. Policy* 42:259–67
- Havice E, Campling L. 2010. Shifting tides in the Western and Central Pacific Ocean tuna fishery: the political economy of regulation and industry responses. *Glob. Environ. Policy* 10:89–114
- Leroy B, Peatman T, Usu T, Caillot S, Moore B, et al. 2016. Interactions between artisanal and industrial tuna fisheries: insights from a decade of tagging experiments. *Mar. Policy* 65:11–19
- 99. Carlsson J, McDowell JR, Carlsson JEL, Graves JE. 2007. Genetic identity of YOY Bluefin tuna from the eastern and western Atlantic spawning areas. *7. Hered.* 98:23–28
- Block BA, Teo SLH, Walli A, Boustany A, Stokesbury MJW, et al. 2005. Electronic tagging and population structure of Atlantic bluefin tuna. *Nature* 434:1121–27
- 101. Hein JR, Mizell K, Koschinksy A, Conrad TA. 2013. Deep-ocean mineral deposits as a source of critical metals for high- and green-technology applications: comparison with land-based resources. Ore Geol. Rev. 51:1–14
- 102. Secr. Pac. Comm. (SPC) Geosci. Div. 2014. Tonga a world leader in seabed minerals law. Pacific Community, Sept. 1. http://gsd.spc.int/media-releases/1-latest-news/583-tonga-a-world-leader-inseabed-minerals-law
- 103. Jobstvogt N, Hanley N, Hynes S, Kenter J, Witte U. 2014. Twenty thousand sterling under the sea: estimating the value of protecting deep-sea biodiversity. *Ecol. Econ.* 97:10–19
- 104. Miner M. 2013. Will deep-sea mining yield an underwater gold rush? National Geographic News Online, Febr. 3. http://news.nationalgeographic.com/news/2013/13/130201-underwater-mining-goldprecious-metals-oceans-environment/
- 105. Van Dover CL. 2014. Impacts of anthropogenic disturbances at deep-sea hydrothermal vent ecosystems: a review. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 102:59–72
- CBD. 2010. Strategic plan for biodiversity 2011–2020 and the Aichi Biodiversity Targets. Decis. X/2, Annex IV, Conf. Parties, 10th, Nagoya, Japn. Oct. 18–29
- 107. Wood L. 2011. Global marine protection targets: How S.M.A.R.T are they? Environ. Manag. 47:525-35
- Spalding MD, Meliane I, Milam A, Fitzgerald C, Hale LZ. 2013. Protecting marine spaces: global targets and changing approaches. *Ocean Yearb*. 27:213–48
- 109. UN General Assembly. 2015. Letter dated 13 February 2015 from the Co-Chairs of the Ad Hoc Open-Ended Informal Working Group to the President of the General Assembly. Doc. A/69/78\*, Gen. Assem., 69th Sess., New York, Febr. 13. http://www.un.org/ga/search/view\_doc.asp?symbol=A/69/780
- 110. McCauley DJ, Pinsky ML, Palumbi SR, Estes JA, Joyce FH, Warner RR. 2015. Marine defaunation: animal loss in the global ocean. *Science* 347. doi: 10.1126/science.1255641
- 111. Ardron JA, Rayfuse R, Gjerde K, Warner R. 2014. The sustainable use and conservation of biodiversity in ABNJ: What can be achieved using existing international agreements? *Mar. Policy* 49:98–108
- 112. Fox HE, Mascia MB, Basurto X, Costa A, Glew L, et al. 2012. Reexamining the science of marine protected areas: linking knowledge to action. *Conserv. Lett.* 5:1–10
- 113. World Ocean Council. 2014. International Ocean Governance: Policy Brief. Honolulu, HI: World Ocean Counc.
- 114. Matz-Lück N, Fuchs J. 2014. The impact of OSPAR on protected area management beyond national jurisdiction: effective regional cooperation or a network of paper parks? *Mar. Policy* 49:155–66
- 115. Gruby RL, Gray NJ, Campbell LM, Acton LD. 2015. Toward a social science research agenda for large marine protected areas. *Conserv. Lett.* doi: 10.1111/conl.12194. In press
- 116. De Santo E. 2013. Missing marine protected area (MPA) targets: how the push for quantity over quality undermines sustainability and social justice. *J. Environ. Manag.* 12:137–46
- 117. Toonen RJ, Wilhelm TA, Maxwell SM, Wagner D, Bowen BW, et al. 2013. One size does not fit all: the emerging frontier in large-scale marine conservation. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 77:7–10
- 118. Secr. Convention Biol. Divers. 2010. *Global Biodiversity Outlook 3*. Montréal, Can.: Secr., Convention Biol. Divers.
- Dulvy NK. 2013. Super-sized MPAs and the marginalization of species conservation. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 23:357–62

- 120. Wilhelm A, Sheppard CRC, Sheppard ALS, Gaymer CF, Parks J, et al. 2014. Large marine protected areas—advantages and challenges of going big. *Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.* 24:24–30
- 121. The Pew Charitable Trusts. 2015. Fact sheet. The Virtual Watch Room: pioneering technology to monitor and protect marine reserves. *Trust Magazine*, Jan. 21. http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-andanalysis/fact-sheets/2015/01/virtual-watch-room
- 122. Devillers R, Pressey RL, Grech A, Kittinger JN, Edgar GJ, et al. 2015. Reinventing residual reserves in the sea: Are we favouring ease of establishment over need for protection? *Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.* 25:480–504
- 123. Richmond L, Kotowicz D. 2015. Equity and access in marine protected areas: the history and future of "traditional indigenous fishing" in the Marianas Trench Marine National Monument. *Appl. Geogr.* 59:117–24
- Gaines SD, White C, Carr MH, Palumbi SR. 2010. Designing marine reserve networks for both conservation and fisheries management. *PNAS* 107:18286–93
- 125. Wagner D. 2013. Big Ocean: A Shared Research Agenda for Large-scale Marine Protected Areas. Honolulu, HI: Big Ocean. http://bigoceanmanagers.org/wp-content/uploads/bigocean\_research\_ agenda\_narrative\_020113\_FINAL.pdf
- 126. IOC/UNESCO, IMO, FAO, UNDP. 2011. A Blueprint for Ocean and Coastal Sustainability. Paris: IOC/UNESCO
- 127. Cooley SR, Doney SC. 2009. Anticipating ocean acidification's economic consequences for commercial fisheries. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 4:024007
- Branch TA, DeJoseph BM, Ray LJ, Wagner CA. 2013. Impacts of ocean acidification on marine seafood. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 28:178–86
- Strong AL, Kroeker KJ, Teneva LT, Mease LA, Kelly RP. 2014. Ocean acidification 2.0: managing our changing coastal ocean chemistry. *BioScience* 64:581–92
- Gaylord B, Kroeker K, Sunday J, Anderson K, Barry J, et al. 2015. Ocean acidification through the lens of ecological theory. *Ecology* 96:3–15
- 131. Kroeker KJ, Kordas RL, Crim RN, Singh GG. 2010. Meta-analysis reveals negative yet variable effects of ocean acidification on marine organisms. *Ecol. Lett.* 13:1419–34
- Nagelkerken I, Russell B, Gillanders B, Connell S. 2015. Ocean acidification alters fish populations indirectly through habitat modification. *Nat. Climate Change* 6:89–93
- 133. Kelly RP, Foley MM, Fisher WS, Feely RA, Halpern BS, et al. 2011. Mitigating local causes of ocean acidification with existing laws. *Science* 332:1036–37
- Kim RE. 2012. Is a new multilateral environmental agreement on ocean acidification necessary? *Rev. Eur. Commun. Int. Environ. Law* 21:243–58
- 135. Bille R, Kelly R, Biastoch A, Harrould-Kolieb E, Herr D, et al. 2013. Taking action against ocean acidification: a review of management and policy options. *Environ. Manag.* 52:761–79
- Brander LM, Rehdanz K, Tol RSJ, Van Beukering PJH. 2012. The economic impact of ocean acidification on coral reefs. *Clim. Chang. Econ.* 3:1250002
- Cooley SR, Lucey N, Kite-Powell H, Doney SC. 2012. Nutrition and income from molluscs today imply vulnerability to ocean acidification tomorrow. *Fish Fisheries* 13:182–215
- 138. Cooley S, Rheuban JE, Hart DR, Luu V, Glover DM, et al. 2015. An integrated assessment model for helping the United States sea scallop (*Placopecten magellanicus*) fishery plan ahead for ocean acidification and warming. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0124145
- Frisch L, Mathis JT, Kettle NP, Trainor SF. 2015. Gauging perceptions of ocean acidification in Alaska. Mar. Policy 51:101–10
- 140. Cooley SKY, Mathis J, Williamson P, eds. 2015. Oceanography, Vol. 28: Special Issue: Emerging Themes in Ocean Acidification Science. Rockville, MD: Oceanogr. Soc.
- 141. Herr D, Pidgeon E, Laffoley D. 2012. Blue Carbon Policy Framework 2.0: Based on the Discussion of the International Blue Carbon Policy Working Group. Gland, Switz.; Arlingt., VA: IUCN/CI
- 142. Duarte CM, Losada IJ, Hendriks IE, Mazarrasa I, Marbà N. 2013. The role of coastal plant communities for climate change mitigation and adaptation. *Nat. Climate Change* 3:961–68
- 143. Grimsditch G, Alder J, Nakamura T, Kenchington R, Tamelander J. 2013. The blue carbon special edition—introduction and overview. *Ocean Coast. Manag.* 83:1–4

- 144. Gordon D, Murray BC, Pendleton L, Victor B. 2011. Financing Options for Blue Carbon: Opportunities and Lessons from the REDD+ Experience. Durham, NC: Nicholas Inst. Environ. Policy Solut.
- 145. Thomas S. 2014. Blue carbon: knowledge gaps, critical issues, and novel approaches. Ecol. Econ. 107:22–38
- 146. Thomas S. 2016. Between Tun Mustapha and the deep blue sea: the political ecology of blue carbon in Sabah. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 55:20–35
- 147. Olson J. 2011. Understanding and contextualizing social impacts from the privatization of fisheries: an overview. *Ocean Coast. Manag.* 54:353–63
- Agrawal A, Nepstad D, Chhatre A. 2011. Reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour. 36:373–96
- 149. Marion Suiseeya KR, Caplow S. 2013. In pursuit of procedural justice: lessons from an analysis of 56 forest carbon project designs. *Glob. Environ. Change* 23:968–79
- 150. Robertson MM. 2006. The nature that capital can see: science, state, and market in the commodification of ecosystem services. *Environ. Plann. D* 24:367–87
- 151. Alongi DM. 2011. Carbon payments for mangrove conservation: ecosystem constraints and uncertainties of sequestration potential. *Environ. Sci. Policy* 14:462–70
- 152. Theuerkauf E, Stephens J, Ridge J, Fodrie F, Rodriguez A. 2015. Carbon export from fringing saltmarsh shoreline erosion overwhelms carbon storage across a critical width threshold. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 164:367–78
- 153. Unsworth RKF, Collier CJ, Henderson GM, McKenzie LJ. 2012. Tropical seagrass meadows modify seawater carbon chemistry: implications for coral reefs impacted by ocean acidification. *Environ. Res. Lett.* 7:024026
- 154. Lau WWY. 2013. Beyond carbon: conceptualizing payments for ecosystem services in blue forests on carbon and other marine and coastal ecosystem services. *Ocean Coast. Manag.* 83:5–14
- 155. Jambeck JR, Geyer R, Wilcox C, Siegler TR, Perryman M, et al. 2015. Plastic waste inputs from land into the ocean. *Science* 347:768–71
- 156. McKinsey & Company, Ocean Conservancy. 2015. Stemming the Tide: Land-based Strategies for a Plastic-Free Ocean. San Francisco: McKinsey & Co.; Washington, DC: Ocean Conserv. http://www. oceanconservancy.org/our-work/marine-debris/mckinsey-report-files/full-report-stemmingthe.pdf
- 157. Cózara A, Echevarría F, González-Gordillo JI, Irigoien X, Úbeda B, et al. 2014. Plastic debris in the open ocean. *PNAS* 111:10239–44
- 158. Cole M, Lindeque P, Halsband C, Galloway TS. 2011. Microplastics as contaminants in the marine environment: a review. *Mar. Poll. Bull.* 62:2588–97
- Derraik JGB. 2002. The pollution of the marine environment by plastic debris: a review. Mar. Poll. Bull. 44:842–52
- 160. Mitchell A. 2015. Thinking without the 'circle': marine plastic and global ethics. Polit. Geogr. 47:77-85
- Oosterhuis F, Papyrakis E, Boteler B. 2014. Economic instruments and marine litter control. Ocean Coast. Manag. 102:47–54
- 162. Rochman CM, Kross SM, Armstrong JB, Bogan MT, Darling ES, et al. 2015. Scientific evidence supports a ban on microbeads. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 49:10759–61